Alma Mater Studiorum · Università di Bologna

Scuola di Scienze Corso di Laurea Magistrale in Fisica

### On the trace anomaly of a Weyl fermion

Relatore: Prof. Fiorenzo Bastianelli Presentata da: Riccardo Martelli

Sessione II Anno Accademico 2016/2017

#### Abstract

La seguente tesi si sviluppa in tre parti: un'introduzione alle simmetrie conformi e di scala, una parte centrale dedicata alle anomalie quantistiche ed una terza parte dedicata all'anomalia di traccia per fermioni. Nella seconda parte in particolare si introduce il metodo di calcolo alla Fujikawa e si discute la scelta di regolatori adeguati ed un metodo per ottenerli, si applicano poi questi metodi ai campi, scalare e vettoriale, per l'anomalia di traccia in spazio curvo. Nell'ultimo capitolo si calcolano le anomalie di traccia per un fermione di Dirac e per uno di Weyl; la motivazione per calcolare queste anomalie nasce dal fatto che recenti articoli hanno suggerito che possa emergere un termine immaginario proporzionale alle densità di Pontryagin nell'anomalia di Weyl. Noi non abbiamo trovato questo termine e il risultato è che l'anomalia di traccia risulta essere metà di quella per il caso di Dirac.

## Contents

1	Classical Models, conformal symmetry and Weyl invariance		<b>5</b>
	1.1	Conformal and Weyl symmetry	5
	1.2	Trace of the energy-momentum tensor	8
	1.3	Scalar Field	9
	1.4	Vector field	13
	1.5	Dirac field	14
<b>2</b>	Quantum anomaly, Fujikawa method and consistent regulator		19
	2.1	Fujikawa method to evaluate quantum anomaly	19
	2.2	Consistent regulator via Pauli Villars	22
	2.3	Heat kernel	24
	2.4	Scalar field trace anomaly	26
	2.5	Vector field trace anomaly	29
3	Trace anomaly for fermions		34
	3.1	Trace anomaly for a Dirac model	34
	3.2	Trace anomaly for a Weyl model	39
	3.3	Anomaly calculation for a Weyl fermion	43
$\mathbf{A}$	Conventions		50
	A.1	Gamma matrices	50
	A.2	Chiral representation of the gamma matrices	51
	A.3	Metric and connections	53

### Introduction

Trace anomalies were first discovered in 1973 by D. Capper and M. J. Duff. Massless fields of spin 0,  $\frac{1}{2}$  and 1 in interaction with gravity classically show invariance under a Weyl rescaling of the metric. This invariance does not occur once we pass to a quantum theory. This manifests itself in the fact that the trace of the energy-momentum tensor of these theories vanishes at the classical level, but acquires anomalous terms at the quantum level. These terms depend on the background geometry of the spacetime on which the conformal field theories are coupled to. The trace (or Weyl) anomaly has a big importance in physics (for a review see [1]) and historically was first connected to the Hawking effect and to gravitational instantons. The Weyl anomaly has also found use in cosmology, supersymmetry and string theory. In cosmology the Weyl anomaly has been connected to inflation, the cosmological constant, particle production and wormholes. For example in the early universe the trace anomaly on a de Sitter space determines the energy momentum tensor and in this way it is related to inflation. In string theory the preservation of Weyl invariance is connected to the critical dimension, to the central charge of the Virasoro algebra and when background fields are present it is possible to obtain the Einstein field equations coupled to matter (and stringy extensions) from the trace anomaly. The Weyl anomaly is also broadly studied today, for example for its connection to the renormalization group or in supersymmetry, where the trace of the stress tensor, the divergence of the axial current and the gamma trace of the spinor currents form a scalar supermultiplet. We are in particular interested in a recent result [2, 3], which analyses the trace anomaly for a Weyl fermion and claims that it contains a purely imaginary term proportional to the Pontryagin density. Such a result would have big consequences since it may imply a unitarity problem at one loop. Moreover it could become a selective criterion for consistent theories. In the following our final aim is to calculate such anomaly with a different method to check the results, on the way we introduce the general topics of anomalies and relevant symmetries of field theories coupled to gravity. In particular in the first chapter we introduce both the conformal invariance and Weyl rescaling, and we show the effect of the latter on massless scalar, vector and Dirac fields. In chapter two we introduce the tools that will be used for the calculation. We will review a path integral approach leading to the Fujikawa method of computing anomalies, and then we will discuss how to choose a consistent regulator that must be introduced in that method. To do so we use a comparison with Pauli Villars regularization, and by using this parallelism we will establish a method to calculate anomalies. Then we will apply this method to the Weyl anomaly for the scalar and Maxwell bosonic fields. Finally in chapter three we calculate the trace anomaly for both Dirac and Weyl fermions. Our final result unfortunately does not match the one mentioned above. We find that the trace anomaly for a Weyl fermion is half the trace anomaly of a Dirac one which does not present a Pontryagin term nor an imaginary one.

### Chapter 1

## Classical Models, conformal symmetry and Weyl invariance

#### 1.1 Conformal and Weyl symmetry

In this chapter we shall give an introduction to conformal symmetry and Weyl invariance. Afterwards we will show these symmetries in three classical models: scalar (spin 0), fermionic (spin  $\frac{1}{2}$ ), and Maxwell (spin 1). To start off we consider conformal invariance. A conformal transformation can be described as the most general coordinate transformation that preserves angles. To be more specific we say that a transformation  $x'^{\mu} = \phi^{\mu}(x)$  is conformal if it satisfies the condition

$$g'_{\mu\nu}(x') = \Lambda(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x). \tag{1.1}$$

If we restrict to a four dimensional euclidean space, starting from the above condition it is possible to calculate the transformations that respect it, and one finds in cartesian coordinates

$$\begin{aligned} x'^{\mu} &= x^{\mu} + a^{\mu} \\ x'^{\mu} &= \alpha x^{\mu} \\ x'^{\mu} &= M^{\mu}{}_{\nu} x^{\nu} \\ x'^{\mu} &= \frac{x^{\mu} - b^{\mu} x^{2}}{1 - 2b^{\nu} x_{\nu} + b^{2} x^{2}} \end{aligned}$$
(1.2)

where from top to bottom we have translations, dilation, rigid rotations and special conformal transformations; in particular  $M^{\mu\nu}$  is an orthogonal matrix belonging to the group SO(4). For a more intuitive expression we can rewrite the SCT (Special Conformal Transformation) in the form

$$\frac{x'^{\mu}}{x'^2} = \frac{x^{\mu}}{x^2} - b^{\mu} \tag{1.3}$$

which let us understand that SCT are an inversion followed by a translation and then followed by another inversion. We show it in a more explicit way writing

$$x \to \frac{x^{\mu}}{x^2} \to \frac{x^{\mu}}{x^2} - b^{\mu} \to \frac{\frac{x^{\mu}}{x^2} - b^{\mu}}{(\frac{x^{\mu}}{x^2} - b^{\mu})^2} = \frac{x^{\mu} - b^{\mu}x^2}{1 - 2b^{\nu}x_{\nu} + b^2x^2}.$$
 (1.4)

We notice that the Poincaré group is a subgroup of the conformal one. The generators of this group acting on the coordinates are easily found to be the following ones

$$P_{\mu} = -i\partial_{\mu}$$

$$D = -ix^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}$$

$$L_{\mu\nu} = i(x_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} - x_{\nu}\partial_{\mu})$$

$$K_{\mu} = -i(2x_{\mu}x^{\nu}\partial_{\nu} - x^{2}\partial_{\mu})$$
(1.5)

where the order is the same as before. The Lie algebra associated to the conformal algebra can now be evaluated, and one finds

$$[D, P_{\mu}] = iP_{\mu}$$

$$[D, K_{\mu}] = iK_{\mu}$$

$$[K_{\mu}, P_{\nu}] = 2i(\eta_{\mu\nu}D - L_{\mu\nu})$$

$$[K_{\rho}, L_{\mu\nu}] = i(\eta_{\rho\mu}K_{\nu} - \eta_{\rho\nu}K_{\mu})$$

$$[P_{\rho}, L_{\mu\nu}] = i(\eta_{\rho\mu}P_{\nu} - \eta_{\rho\nu}P_{\mu})$$

$$[L_{\mu\nu}, L_{\rho\sigma}] = i(\eta_{\rho\nu}L_{\mu\sigma} + \eta_{\mu\sigma}L_{\nu\rho} - \eta_{\rho\mu}L_{\nu\sigma} - \eta_{\nu\sigma}L_{\mu\rho}).$$
(1.6)

If we define the generators

$$J_{\mu\nu} = L_{\mu\nu}$$

$$J_{-1,\mu} = \frac{1}{2} (P_{\mu} - K_{\mu})$$

$$J_{-1,0} = D$$

$$J_{0,\mu} = \frac{1}{2} (P_{\mu} + K_{\mu})$$
(1.7)

and imposing that  $J_{ab} = -J_{ba}$ , and one finds that the Lie algebra takes the form

$$[J_{ab}, J_{cd}] = i(\eta_{ad}J_{bc} + \eta_{bc}J_{ad} - \eta_{ac}J_{bd} - \eta_{bd}J_{ac})$$
(1.8)

where the index span from -1 to the dimension of the space and  $\eta$  has an extra minus sign. This means that there is an isomorphism between the conformal group in d dimension and the SO(d+1,1) group. Similarly, in a Minkowskian spacetime of d dimension, whose Lorentz group is SO(d-1,1), the conformal group is isomorphic to SO(d,2).

It is interesting for our purpose to consider the general field transformation for the dilatations

$$\Phi'(x') = \alpha^{-2\Delta} \Phi(x) = \Lambda(x)^{-\Delta} \Phi(x).$$
(1.9)

More in general all conformal transformation can be written in the form

$$\Phi'(x') = \left|\frac{\partial x'}{\partial x}\right|^{-\frac{\Delta}{4}} \Phi(x)$$
(1.10)

where  $\Delta$  is the scaling dimension which depends on the kind of field.

Now to the Weyl transformation. Weyl transformations, or rescaling, are not a coordinate transformation but simply a local rescaling of the metric

$$g'_{\mu\nu}(x) = \Lambda(x)g_{\mu\nu}(x) \tag{1.11}$$

notice that on the left hand side of the equation we do not have x'. We can then say that a conformal transformation leaves the metric unchanged up to a Weyl rescaling. To have Weyl invariance though we have to introduce transformations that act also on the fields and follow the rule

$$\Phi'(x) = \Lambda(x)^{-\Delta} \Phi(x).$$
(1.12)

#### 1.2 Trace of the energy-momentum tensor

Now we would like to address the relationship between conformal and Weyl invariance and the consequences on the energy momentum tensor . To do so we recall that for a model  $\Phi$  coupled to gravity we can define the energy momentum tensor as

$$T_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}} S[\Phi, g].$$
(1.13)

This definition gives directly the improved Belifante energy momentum tensor and as a concept it is obtained remembering that  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the source of the gravitational field. Now if we consider an action coupled to gravity, where gravity is only a background, and we assume that such action is invariant under local Weyl rescaling, then we must have that

$$0 = \delta S = \delta_{\Phi} S + \delta_{g} S = \int d^{4}x \sqrt{g} \left[ \left( \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta(\partial \Phi)} \delta(\partial \Phi) + \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \Phi} \delta \Phi \right) - \frac{1}{2} T_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \right]$$
(1.14)

where in this equation  $\delta_{\Phi}$  is the variation with respect to the field and  $\delta_g$  with respect to the metric. We see that the first term on the right hand side is proportional to the Euler Lagrange equation, so that on-shell it vanishes, and we obtain

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{g} T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \sigma(x) = 0 \tag{1.15}$$

where we have defined an infinitesimal parameter  $\sigma(x) = \ln \Lambda(x)$  so that

$$\delta g^{\mu\nu} = -\sigma(x)g^{\mu\nu}. \tag{1.16}$$

We see that as a consequence of the invariance of the action the energy momentum tensor must be traceless on-shell. Now assuming that we have an action invariant under local Weyl rescaling we ask ourselves if it is also invariant under conformal transformations. To answer this question let us consider an infinitesimal coordinate transformation

$$x'^{\mu} = x^{\mu} - \epsilon^{\mu}(x) \tag{1.17}$$

so that the metric varies as

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu}(x) = g'_{\mu\nu}(x) - g_{\mu\nu}(x) = \nabla_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu}(x) + \nabla_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu}(x).$$
(1.18)

To have a true symmetry (as opposite to a background symmetry where the background is also transformed) one may try to compensate the variation of the metric with an infinitesimal Weyl transformation, as in (1.16), and require that

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\mu} \epsilon_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu} \epsilon_{\mu} + \sigma g_{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{1.19}$$

Taking the trace of this equation one finds

$$\sigma = -\frac{2}{d}\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon^{\mu} \tag{1.20}$$

and thus obtains the conformal Killing equation

$$\nabla_{\mu}\epsilon_{\nu} + \nabla_{\nu}\epsilon_{\mu} - \frac{2}{d}g_{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\alpha}\epsilon^{\alpha} = 0.$$
 (1.21)

Solutions of this equation are the conformal Killing vectors  $\epsilon^{\mu}$  that generate the conformal transformations. In flat space they are precisely the vectors that produce the finite conformal transformations reported in eq. (1.2).

To summarize if a model in curved space is invariant under local Weyl rescalings of the background metric, its energy momentum tensor is traceless and as a consequences the model is also invariant under conformal transformations. For this reason in the following we will only check local Weyl invariance in the models we are going to discuss.

#### **1.3** Scalar Field

In this section we would like to introduce a scalar field model in 4-dimensional euclidean curved space which is also invariant under Weyl transformation. The classical action is similar to the one for a massless scalar field minimally coupled to gravity, but to guarantee the invariance under Weyl transformations one needs to add an improvement term proportional to R (our conventions can be found in appendix A.3)

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi^2 \right).$$
 (1.22)

Varying the action one can obtain the equation of motion. Using covariant derivatives, the variation reads

$$\delta S = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} (\nabla^{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\mu} \delta \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi \delta \phi)$$
(1.23)

that after an integration by part becomes

$$\delta S = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} (-\Box \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi) \delta \phi \qquad (1.24)$$

so that we can read off the equation of motion

$$\left(\Box + \frac{1}{6}R\right)\phi = 0. \tag{1.25}$$

In the above relation we have defined the covariant laplacian  $\Box = \nabla_{\mu} \nabla^{\mu}$  that acts on a scalar.

At this point, recalling the definition of the energy-momentum tensor  $T_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{g}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\mu\nu}}$ , we would like to calculate its explicit expression (see appendix A.3 for the variation of the scalar curvature R)

$$\begin{split} \delta_{g}S &= \int d^{4}x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \left( -\frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\rho} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{12} g_{\mu\nu} R \phi^{2} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{6} R_{\mu\nu} \phi^{2} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{6} \phi^{2} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{6} \phi^{2} g_{\mu\nu} \Box \delta g^{\mu\nu} \right) = \\ &= \int d^{4}x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \left( -\frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\rho} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{12} g_{\mu\nu} R \phi^{2} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \right. \\ &\left. - \frac{1}{6} R_{\mu\nu} \phi^{2} \delta g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3} \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{3} \phi \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \right. \\ &\left. + \frac{1}{3} \nabla_{\rho} \phi \nabla^{\rho} \phi g_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{3} \phi \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \right) \end{split}$$
(1.26)

that reads

$$T_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{6} \nabla^{\rho} \phi \nabla_{\rho} \phi g_{\mu\nu} - \frac{2}{3} \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{3} \phi \Box \phi g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{3} \phi \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} g_{\mu\nu} R \phi^2 + \frac{1}{6} R_{\mu\nu} \phi^2.$$
(1.27)

Now we can show that this tensor is indeed traceless

$$T_{\mu\nu}g^{\mu\nu} = \frac{4}{6}\nabla^{\rho}\phi\nabla_{\rho}\phi - \frac{2}{3}\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi - \frac{4}{3}\phi\Box\phi + \frac{1}{3}\phi\Box\phi - \frac{1}{3}R\phi^{2} + \frac{1}{6}R\phi^{2} = (1.28)$$
$$= -\phi\Box\phi - \frac{1}{6}R\phi^{2} = \phi(-\Box\phi - \frac{1}{6}R\phi) = 0;$$

in the last line we applied the equation of motion. As already mentioned, this is a consequence of Weyl invariance.

Now, we would like to show explicitly the invariance of the action under local Weyl rescalings. We define  $\sigma(x) = \ln \Lambda(x)$  so that we can write the infinitesimal transformations

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \sigma(x)g_{\mu\nu} \tag{1.29}$$

$$\delta\phi = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)\phi,\tag{1.30}$$

after some calculation is also possible to show that

$$\delta R = -\sigma R + 3\nabla^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\sigma = -\sigma R + 3(\partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}\sigma - \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma).$$
(1.31)

Now we can proceed to calculate the variation of the action

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = \sigma \sqrt{g} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi^2 \right) + \\ + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \left( -\sigma g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \sigma - \sigma g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi + \frac{1}{6} \sigma R \phi^2 + \\ - \frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma + \frac{1}{6} \sigma R \phi^2 \right) = \\ = -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \sigma - \frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \right)$$
(1.32)

where we have applied the above mentioned rules taking into account that  $g^{\mu\nu}$  has

an infinitesimal transformation with the opposite sign. Since we are interested in the variation of the action we may add for free a total derivative  $\frac{1}{4}\partial_{\mu}(\sqrt{g}g^{\mu\nu}\phi^2\partial_{\nu}\sigma)$  and obtain

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \Big( -g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{4} g^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} g_{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu\nu} \phi^{2} \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} g^{\mu\nu} \phi^{2} \partial_{\nu} \sigma + g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \sigma - \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \Big) =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \Big( \frac{1}{4} g^{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\mu} g_{\rho\sigma} g^{\mu\nu} \phi^{2} \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} g^{\mu\nu} \phi^{2} \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \Big),$$

$$(1.33)$$

now we remember that the covariant derivative of the metric vanishes so that we can use

$$\partial_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu}g_{\sigma\nu} + \Gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\nu}g_{\mu\sigma}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}g^{\mu\nu} = -\Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}g^{\rho\nu} - \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}g^{\mu\rho}$$
(1.34)

and, after a substitution in the equation we can say that

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\mu} \phi^2 \partial_{\nu} \sigma - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\nu} \phi^2 \partial_{\nu} \sigma - \frac{1}{2} \Gamma^{\nu\mu}{}_{\mu} \phi^2 \partial_{\nu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \Gamma^{\mu\nu}{}_{\nu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma \right) = 0 \qquad (1.35)$$

that proves the invariance of the action. This calculation is a bit complex, but quite explicit. Thus, we would like to present the same calculation done in a more covariant way

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = \sigma \sqrt{g} \left( \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi^{2} \right) + \\ + \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \left( -\sigma \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi - \phi \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \sigma - \sigma \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi + \\ + \frac{1}{6} \sigma R \phi^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \Box \sigma + \frac{1}{6} \sigma R \phi^{2} \right) = \\ = -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \left( \phi \nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \Box \sigma \right) = \\ = -\frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} \nabla_{\mu} \phi^{2} \nabla^{\mu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \Box \sigma \right) = \\ = -\frac{1}{4} \sqrt{g} \nabla_{\mu} \left( \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \nabla^{\mu} \sigma + \frac{1}{2} \phi^{2} \nabla^{\mu} \sigma \right)$$

$$(1.36)$$

which is a total derivative that can be dropped upon integration, so that  $\delta S = 0$ . This proves Weyl invariance.

#### 1.4 Vector field

Now we are going to do the same for the vector field  $A_{\mu}(x)$ . We will introduce an action and prove that it is classically invariant under local Weyl rescaling. The action we consider is the free Maxwell action minimally coupled to gravity

$$S = -\int d^4x \frac{1}{4} \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\rho} g^{\nu\sigma} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\rho\sigma}$$
(1.37)

where  $F_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\mu}A_{\nu} - \partial_{\nu}A_{\mu}$ . First we would like to obtain the equations of motion. To do so we vary the action

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \sqrt{g} \left( -\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} \delta F_{\mu\nu} \right) = \int d^4 x \sqrt{g} \left( -\frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} \nabla_\mu \delta A_\nu \right) =$$
  
= 
$$\int d^4 x \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{4} \nabla_\mu F^{\mu\nu} \right) \delta A_\nu, \qquad (1.38)$$

in the calculation we used the property  $[\delta, \nabla] = 0$  and also the antisymmetric nature of  $F^{\mu\nu}$ . From the last line we can read off the equations of motion

$$\nabla_{\nu}F^{\mu\nu} = 0. \tag{1.39}$$

We also want to calculate the energy momentum tensor, so starting again from the action we recall that varying only the metric one finds

$$\delta S = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left( -\frac{1}{2} T_{\mu\nu} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \right) = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} T^{\mu\nu} \delta g_{\mu\nu} \right). \tag{1.40}$$

Thus we consider

$$\delta S = \int d^4 x \left( -\frac{1}{4} F_{\mu\nu} F^{\mu\nu} (\delta \sqrt{g}) - \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} F_{\mu\rho} F_{\nu}{}^{\rho} \delta g^{\mu\nu} \right) = \\ = \int d^4 x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \left( F^{\mu\rho} F^{\nu}{}_{\rho} - \frac{1}{4} g^{\mu\nu} F_{\sigma\rho} F^{\sigma\rho} \right) \delta g_{\mu\nu},$$
(1.41)

from the last line we can read off

$$T_{\mu\nu} = F_{\mu\rho}F_{\nu}^{\ \rho} - \frac{1}{4}g_{\mu\nu}F_{\sigma\rho}F^{\sigma\rho}.$$
 (1.42)

This tensor is conserved and has a null trace

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = g^{\mu\nu}F_{\mu\rho}F_{\nu}{}^{\rho} - \frac{1}{4}4F_{\sigma\rho}F^{\sigma\rho} = 0.$$
(1.43)

Now we want to prove the invariance of the action under a Weyl rescaling. The transformation we need are

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \sigma g_{\mu\nu}$$
  

$$\delta g^{\mu\nu} = -\sigma g^{\mu\nu}$$
  

$$\delta A_{\mu} = 0$$
(1.44)

where once again  $\sigma = \ln(\Lambda)$ . Now remembering  $\delta\sqrt{g} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma\sqrt{g}g^{\mu\nu}g_{\mu\nu}$  we can calculate

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{8} \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\tau \omega} g_{\tau \omega} g^{\mu \rho} g^{\nu \sigma} F_{\mu \nu} F_{\rho \sigma} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\mu \rho} g^{\nu \sigma} F_{\mu \nu} F_{\rho \sigma} = = -\frac{1}{2} \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\mu \rho} g^{\nu \sigma} F_{\mu \nu} F_{\rho \sigma} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\mu \rho} g^{\nu \sigma} F_{\mu \nu} F_{\rho \sigma} = 0$$
(1.45)

which shows the invariance.

### 1.5 Dirac field

Before introducing this model we have to digress a little on how to couple a fermion to gravity. Introducing the veilbein  $e^a{}_\mu$  by setting

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \eta_{ab} \, e_{\mu}{}^{a} \, e_{\nu}{}^{b} \tag{1.46}$$

one gains a new gauge symmetry: the local Lorentz transformations of tangent space. The covariant derivative needs a corresponding connection (the spin connection) so that for a tensor or spinor field V of tangent space one has

$$\nabla_{\mu}V = \partial_{\mu}V + \frac{1}{2}\omega_{\mu ab}M^{ab}V \tag{1.47}$$

where  $M^{ab}$  are the generators of the Lorentz group in the representation of the field Vand satisfy the algebra normalized as

$$[M^{ab}, M^{cd}] = \eta^{bc} M^{ad} - \eta^{ac} M^{bd} - \eta^{bd} M^{ac} + \eta^{ad} M^{bc}.$$
 (1.48)

The spin connection without torsion is defined by requiring the vielbein to be covariantly constant

$$\nabla_{\mu}e_{\nu}{}^{a} \equiv \partial_{\mu}e_{\nu}{}^{a} - \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}e_{\rho}{}^{a} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{a}{}_{b}e_{\nu}{}^{b} = 0$$
(1.49)

which can be solved for  $\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab}$  by

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab} = e^{\nu b} (\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} e_{\rho}{}^{a} - \partial_{\mu} e_{\nu}{}^{a})$$
(1.50)

or equivalenty by

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab} = \frac{1}{2} e^{\rho a} e^{\nu b} e_{\mu c} (\partial_{\nu} e_{\rho}{}^{c} - \partial_{\rho} e_{\nu}{}^{c}) + \frac{1}{2} e^{\nu a} (\partial_{\mu} e_{\nu}{}^{b} - \partial_{\nu} e_{\mu}{}^{b}) - \frac{1}{2} e^{\nu b} (\partial_{\mu} e_{\nu}{}^{a} - \partial_{\nu} e_{\mu}{}^{a}) .$$
(1.51)

This last expression shows manifestly the antisymmetry under exchange of the indices a and b. The spin connections transforms as a gauge field for local Lorentz transformations

$$e_{\mu}{}^{a} \rightarrow e_{\mu}^{\prime a} = \Lambda^{a}{}_{b}e_{\mu}{}^{b} \tag{1.52}$$

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{ab} \to \omega_{\mu}'{}^{ab} = \Lambda^{ac} \partial_{\mu} \Lambda^{b}{}_{c} + \Lambda^{a}{}_{c} \Lambda^{b}{}_{d} \omega_{\mu}{}^{cd} .$$
(1.53)

In addition, the curvatures corresponding to the different connections (for the spin connection we define it as  $[\nabla_{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}] = \frac{1}{2} R_{\mu\nu ab}(\omega) M^{ab}$ ) are related since

$$[\nabla_{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}]e_{\rho}^{\ a} = 0 \quad \rightarrow \quad R_{\mu\nu\rho a}(\Gamma) = R_{\mu\nu\rho a}(\omega) \tag{1.54}$$

where of course indices are made flat or curved by using the vierbien  $e^a{}_{\mu}$  and its inverse.

Now, thanks to this geometrical set-up, we can introduce the action for a spin  $\frac{1}{2}$  Dirac

field

$$S = -\int d^4x e \overline{\psi} \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu \psi \,; \qquad (1.55)$$

where the covariant derivative is defined as

$$\nabla_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \omega_{\mu a b} \gamma^{a} \gamma^{b} . \qquad (1.56)$$

It is also important to notice that the gamma matrices have now a curved space variant defined as

$$\gamma^{\mu} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}\gamma^{a} . \tag{1.57}$$

Now we want to obtain the equations of motion so that we vary the action

$$\delta S = -\int d^4 x e \delta \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \psi + e \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \delta \psi =$$
  
= 
$$-\int d^4 x e \left( \delta \overline{\psi} (\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \psi) - (\nabla_{\mu} \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu}) \delta \psi \right)$$
(1.58)

and from the least action principle we find the Dirac equation

$$\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi = 0 \tag{1.59}$$

and its complex conjugate. In this situation it is natural to define the energy momentum tensor for the Dirac field as

$$T^{\mu}{}_{a} = \frac{1}{e} \frac{\delta S}{\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a}}.$$
(1.60)

The reason for this is that when varying the action now we want to consider  $\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a}$  instead of  $\delta g^{\mu\nu}$ . This definition is consistent with the previous one, in fact

$$T_{\mu}{}^{a} = -\frac{1}{e} \frac{\delta S}{\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a}} = -\frac{1}{g} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\alpha\beta}} \frac{\delta g^{\alpha\beta}}{\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a}} = -\frac{2}{g} \frac{\delta S}{\delta g^{\alpha\beta}} e^{\beta a} \delta^{\alpha}{}_{\mu} = T_{\alpha\beta} e^{\beta a} \delta^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}.$$
(1.61)

As a consequence we obtain the same result that we got before, that is the energy momentum tensor is covariantly conserved, symmetric and traceless. To see this we may again compute

$$0 = \delta S = \delta_{\Phi} S + \delta_e S = \int d^4 x e \left[ \left( \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta(\partial \Phi)} \delta(\partial \Phi) + \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta \Phi} \delta \Phi \right) + T^{\mu}{}_a \delta e_{\mu}{}^a \right],$$
(1.62)

so that on-shell only the last term survives (here we have collectively denoted by  $\Phi$  the fields  $\psi$  and  $\overline{\psi}$ , and used right derivatives). If we consider at this point a reparametrization

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \nabla_{\mu} \epsilon^{a} \tag{1.63}$$

the variation becomes

$$\int d^4x e T^{\mu}{}_a \nabla_\mu \epsilon^a = -\int d^4x e (\nabla_\mu T^{\mu}{}_a) \epsilon^a = 0$$
(1.64)

proving that the tensor is indeed covariantly conserved

$$\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu}{}_{a} = 0. \tag{1.65}$$

To prove that the tensor is symmetric we have to consider a Lorentz transformation

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \omega^{a}{}_{b}e^{b}{}_{\mu}, \qquad (1.66)$$

recalling that, for a Lorentz transformation, the infinitesimal parameter  $\omega_{ab}$  is antisymmetric we get

$$\int d^4x e T^{\mu}{}_a \omega^a{}_b e^b{}_{\mu} = \int d^4x e T^{ba} \omega_{ab} = 0.$$
(1.67)

This imply that as we stated the energy momentum tensor is symmetric. Lastly considering a Weyl rescaling

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)e_{\mu}{}^{a} \tag{1.68}$$

we get

$$\int d^4x \frac{1}{2} e T^{\mu}{}_a \sigma(x) e_{\mu}{}^a = \int d^4x \frac{1}{2} e T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \sigma(x) = 0$$
(1.69)

that prove the tensor is traceless.

Let us now prove explicitly the invariance of the action under Weyl transformations. The Weyl rescaling that we need are

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)e_{\mu}{}^{a} \tag{1.70}$$

$$\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)e^{\mu}{}_{a} \tag{1.71}$$

$$\delta e = e e^{\mu}{}_a \delta e_{\mu}{}^a = 2\sigma(x)e \tag{1.72}$$

$$\delta\omega_{\mu ab} = \frac{1}{2} (e_{\mu a} e^{\nu}{}_{b} - e_{\mu b} e^{\nu}{}_{a}) \partial_{\nu} \sigma(x)$$
(1.73)

$$\delta\psi = -\frac{3}{4}\sigma(x)\psi\tag{1.74}$$

$$\delta\overline{\psi} = -\frac{3}{4}\sigma(x)\overline{\psi}.$$
(1.75)

Now we can calculate the variation of the action, remembering while doing so that the vielbein is a local object and as such it depends on the coordinates,

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = \delta(-e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi) = -2\sigma e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{3}{4}\sigma e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\sigma e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\sigma e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\sigma e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\sigma e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi\partial_{\mu}\sigma = (1.76)$$
$$= -\frac{1}{8}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}(e_{\mu a}e^{\nu}{}_{b} - e_{\mu b}e^{\nu}{}_{a})\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}\psi\partial_{\nu}\sigma + \frac{3}{4}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi\partial_{\mu}\sigma,$$

remembering eq. (1.57) we obtain

$$\delta \mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{8} e \overline{\psi} (\eta_{ca} e^{\mu}{}_{b} - \eta_{cb} e^{\mu}{}_{a}) \gamma^{c} \gamma^{a} \gamma^{b} \psi \partial_{\mu} \sigma + \frac{3}{4} e \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \psi \partial_{\mu} \sigma =$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8} e \overline{\psi} [4\gamma^{\mu} - \eta_{cb} e^{\mu}{}_{a} (-\gamma^{c} \gamma^{b} \gamma^{a} + 2\eta^{ab} \gamma^{c})] \psi \partial_{\mu} \sigma + \frac{3}{4} e \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \psi \partial_{\mu} \sigma =$$

$$= -\frac{1}{8} e \overline{\psi} (4\gamma^{\mu} + 4\gamma^{\mu} - 2\gamma^{\mu})] \psi \partial_{\mu} \sigma + \frac{3}{4} e \overline{\psi} \gamma^{\mu} \psi \partial_{\mu} \sigma = 0,$$
(1.77)

where we used the relations  $\eta_{ab} = e_{\mu a} e^{\mu}{}_{b}$  and  $\gamma^{a} \gamma_{a} = 4$ . This concludes the proof of the invariance of this classical Dirac model under local Weyl rescaling.

### Chapter 2

## Quantum anomaly, Fujikawa method and consistent regulator

#### 2.1 Fujikawa method to evaluate quantum anomaly

The origin of anomalies in (perturbative) quantum field theory can be traced back to the fact that in the computation of loop corrections, one has to specify a regularization scheme. The latter, in general, does not preserve all of the symmetries of the classical action. After renormalizing, one can eliminate the regulating parameter (like the momentum cut-off  $\Lambda$ , the  $\epsilon$  parameter of dimensional regularization, or the mass M of Pauli-Villars fields) and it may happen that some (necessarily finite) non-symmetrical terms survive, causing the breaking of those symmetries not preserved by the regularization. Still, it may happen that these terms can be cancelled by adding local counterterms to the effective action, whose variation cancel the anomaly. If this is not the case, one has a true anomaly. In the language of generating functionals, it means that the effective action  $\Gamma$  does not satisfy the corresponding Ward identity. The piece which breaks the Ward identity is identified as the consistent anomaly, where "consistent" refers to the fact that the anomaly is obtained from the variation of the effective action, and thus satisfies certain integrability conditions |4|. In the following we will apply the method of Fujikawa [5, 6] for computing the anomalies, improved by the scheme of ref. [7] to identify a consistent regulator. The latter scheme makes the anomaly calculation equivalent to a Feynman graph calculation regulated à la Pauli-Villars, which is necessarily

consistent.

In Fujikawa's method, one recognizes the anomaly as arising from the non-invariance under a symmetry transformation of the measure  $D\phi$  of the path integral

$$Z = \int D\phi \ e^{-S[\phi]} \tag{2.1}$$

here written in euclidean time. To review Fujikawa's method, let us consider an infinitesimal symmetry transformation of the form  $\delta_{\alpha}\phi^i = \alpha f^i(\phi, \partial_{\mu}\phi)$ , with infinitesimal constant parameter  $\alpha$ , that leaves the action invariant, i.e.  $\delta_{\alpha}S[\phi] = 0$ . Promoting the parameter  $\alpha$  to be an arbitrary function  $\alpha(x)$ , one identifies the Noether current  $J_{\mu}$ associated to the symmetry by calculating

$$\delta_{\alpha(x)}S[\phi] = \int d^4x \, J^\mu \partial_\mu \alpha(x) \tag{2.2}$$

and recognizing from this expression the form of  $J^{\mu}$ . Terms proportional to an undifferentiated  $\alpha$  cannot be present, as for constant parameter one has a symmetry. On-shell  $\delta S[\phi] = 0$  for arbitrary variations (least action principle), and after performing an integration by parts in (2.2) one deduces that the Noether current  $J^{\mu}$  is classically conserved

$$\partial_{\mu}J^{\mu} = 0. \qquad (2.3)$$

The quantum theory is defined by the path integral of eq. (2.1). Under a dummy change of integration variables the path integral is left invariant

$$\int D\phi' \ e^{-S[\phi']} = \int D\phi \ e^{-S[\phi]} \ . \tag{2.4}$$

Let us apply this property to an infinitesimal change of integration variables  $\phi^i \to \phi'^i = \phi^i + \delta_{\alpha(x)}\phi^i$ , where  $\delta_{\alpha(x)}\phi^i$  is given by an infinitesimal symmetry transformation with the parameter  $\alpha$  replaced by the arbitrary function  $\alpha(x)$ . In relating the path integral written in terms of  $\phi'^i$  to the one written in terms of  $\phi^i$  (in a condensed notation we include the space-time dependence into the index *i*), one may use that

$$S[\phi'] = S[\phi] + \delta_{\alpha(x)}S[\phi]$$
(2.5)

and taking into account the path integral jacobian  $\mathcal J$ 

$$\mathcal{J} = \text{Det} \ \frac{\partial \phi^{\prime i}}{\partial \phi^{j}} = 1 + \text{Tr} \ \frac{\partial \delta_{\alpha(x)} \phi^{i}}{\partial \phi^{j}} \equiv 1 + \text{Tr} \ \Delta$$
(2.6)

one finds from (2.4)

$$\langle \operatorname{Tr} \Delta - \delta_{\alpha(x)} S[\phi] \rangle = 0.$$
 (2.7)

After an integration by parts this is re-written as

$$\int d^4x \,\alpha(x)\partial_\mu \langle J^\mu \rangle = -\operatorname{Tr}\,\Delta \tag{2.8}$$

which shows that the Noether current is not conserved at the quantum level if the path integral measure carries a nontrivial jacobian

$$\partial_{\mu} \langle J^{\mu} \rangle \neq 0 . \tag{2.9}$$

Here above, quantum expectation values have been indicated by  $\langle \cdots \rangle$  and defined as normalized averages within the path integral. We have assumed that the jacobian is independent of the quantum fields, so that it can be pulled out of the expectation value. Of course, one must remember to check that the candidate anomaly computed from (2.8) cannot be canceled by the variation of a local counterterm.

To proceed further, one must define carefully the formal expressions appearing in the above reasonings. Ideally, one would like to fully specify the path integration measure, so that the evaluation of the jacobian would be a well-defined task. In practice, one is able to compute gaussian path integrals only, and resort to perturbative methods for more complicated cases. Nevertheless, one can still obtain the one-loop anomalies by regulating the trace in (2.8), as shown by Fujikawa [5, 6]. Employing a negative-definite operator  $\mathcal{R}$  the candidate anomaly is regulated as

$$\mathcal{A} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}}{M^2}} .$$
 (2.10)

This functional trace is written in a more explicit notation (for a single scalar field) as

Tr 
$$\Delta = \int d^4x \int d^4y \,\Delta(x,y)\delta^4(x-y) , \qquad \Delta(x,y) = \frac{\delta(\delta_{\alpha(x)}\phi(x))}{\delta\phi(y)}$$
(2.11)

and regulated by the differential operator  $\mathcal{R}(x)$  acting on the x coordinates as

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}}{M^2}} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \int d^4x \int d^4y \,\Delta(x,y) \, e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}(x)}{M^2}} \,\delta^4(x-y) \,. \tag{2.12}$$

For an arbitrary regulator  $\mathcal{R}$ , it is not obvious which kind of anomaly one is going to get. In the next section we will provide a method to obtain consistent regulator.

#### 2.2 Consistent regulator via Pauli Villars

A well-defined algorithm for determining those regulators  $\mathcal{R}$  which produce consistent anomalies has been established in [7] (see also [8]). The basic idea is to first use a Pauli-Villars (PV) regularization [9], compute the anomalies due to the non-invariance of the PV mass term, and then read off the regulators and jacobians to be used in the Fujikawa's scheme in order to reproduce the anomalies. Since the PV method yields consistent anomalies, being a Feynman graph calculation, one obtains "consistent" regulators.

In more details the PV method for computing one-loop anomalies goes as follows. Let us denote by  $\phi$  a collection of quantum fields with quadratic action

$$\mathcal{L}_{\phi} = \frac{1}{2} \phi^T T \mathcal{O} \phi \tag{2.13}$$

invariant under a linear symmetry of the form

$$\delta\phi = K\phi \ . \tag{2.14}$$

The case of linear symmetries is enough for the present purposes. The one-loop of this theory is regulated by subtracting a loop of a massive PV fields  $\chi$  with action

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi} = \frac{1}{2}\chi^{T}T\mathcal{O}\chi + \frac{1}{2}M\chi^{T}T\chi \qquad (2.15)$$

where the last term describes the mass of the PV fields<sup>1</sup>. The invariance of the original

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>More generally, one should employ a set of PV fields with mass  $M_i$  and statistic  $c_i$  to be able to regulate and cancel all possible one-loop divergences [9], but for the sake of the present exposition it is enough to consider only one copy of the PV fields. Also, the mass M in the PV lagrangian generically carries an appropriate positive power, according to the mass dimension of the differential operator  $\mathcal{O}$ .

action is extended to an invariance of the massless part of the PV action by defining

$$\delta\chi = K\chi \tag{2.16}$$

so that only the PV mass term may break the symmetry (if one can find a symmetrical mass term, then the symmetry will be anomaly free). One refers to TO as the kinetic matrix and to T as the mass matrix. They both depend on eventual background fields, which may get transformed under the symmetry variation as well. The anomalous response of the path integral under a symmetry variation is now due to the mass term only, since the measure of the PV fields  $\chi$  can be defined in such a way that their jacobian cancels the jacobian of the original fields  $\phi$ , as argued in [7]. Under the symmetry transformation (2.16) the mass term lagrangian of the PV fields varies as

$$\delta \mathcal{L}_{\chi} = \frac{1}{2} M \chi^T (TK + K^T T + \delta T) \chi . \qquad (2.17)$$

Using this into the variation of the PV-regulated path integral one computes the anomaly in the Noether current as

$$\int d^4x \,\alpha(x)\partial_\mu \langle J^\mu \rangle = -\lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \frac{1}{2} M \left( TK + K^T T + \delta T \right) \left( TM + T\mathcal{O} \right)^{-1} \right] \\ = -\lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \left[ \left( K + \frac{1}{2} T^{-1} \delta T \right) \left( 1 + \frac{\mathcal{O}}{M} \right)^{-1} \right]$$
(2.18)

where we replaced  $K^T T$  by TK, since both T and  $T\mathcal{O}$  are symmetric, and used the  $\chi$ -propagator from (2.15) to close the  $\chi$ -loop (recall its relative minus sign with respect to the  $\phi$ -loop). The limit  $M \to \infty$  indicates that the PV fields are removed by making them infinitely massive, so that in (2.18) only a mass independent term survives, which gives the anomaly<sup>2</sup>.

At this stage one may notice that the expansion of  $(1 + \frac{\mathcal{O}}{M})^{-1}$  leads to Feynman graphs, just as the expansion of  $e^{-\frac{\mathcal{O}}{M}}$  whenever  $\mathcal{O}$  is a positive definite operator. Hence one may cast the anomaly calculation as a typical calculation of a Fujikawa's jacobian

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Eventual diverging term are removed by using a set of PV-fields entering the loop with suitable coefficients  $c_i$ , instead of a single PV field, as reminded in the previous footnote. It is not necessary to explicit this procedure further.

as in (2.10) by identifying

$$\Delta = K + \frac{1}{2}T^{-1}\delta T , \qquad \mathcal{R} = -\mathcal{O} . \qquad (2.19)$$

This freedom in regulating path integral jacobians by using suitable functions of the regulator  $\mathcal{R}$  was already noticed in [5, 6], and used in [7] to make the above connection.

For many cases the regulator  $\mathcal{O}$  is enough, while in other cases (typically when  $\mathcal{O}$  is a first order differential operator) one has to improve it. A way of doing this is achieved by inserting the identity  $1 = (1 - \frac{\mathcal{O}}{M})(1 - \frac{\mathcal{O}}{M})^{-1}$  into (2.18), so that the functional trace becomes

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(K + \frac{1}{2}T^{-1}\delta T\right)\left(1 - \frac{\mathcal{O}}{M}\right)\left(1 - \frac{\mathcal{O}^2}{M^2}\right)^{-1}\right],\qquad(2.20)$$

which can be simplified using the invariance of the kinetical part of the action

$$\chi^T (T\mathcal{O}K + \frac{1}{2}\delta(T\mathcal{O}))\chi = 0$$
(2.21)

obtaining

$$\Delta = K + \frac{1}{2}T^{-1}\delta T + \frac{1}{2}\delta \mathcal{O}M^{-1} , \qquad \mathcal{R} = \mathcal{O}^2$$
(2.22)

valid if  $\mathcal{O}^2$  becomes a positive definite operator. To calculate the anomaly we then have to calculate

$$\mathcal{A} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}}{M^2}} .$$
 (2.23)

To do so in the next section we are going to introduce the heat kernel.

#### 2.3 Heat kernel

The heat kernel is the solution of the heat equation

$$-\frac{\partial}{\partial\beta}K = \widehat{H}K,\tag{2.24}$$

where  $\hat{H}$  is a second order elliptic differential operator. This equation in quantum physics is obtained via the Wick rotation of the Schroedinger equation, where  $\hat{H}$  is the hamiltonian of the system. The heat kernel is especially useful for one-loop calculations in QFT, in particular for Laplace type operator. The solution of the above equation, the heat kernel itself, can be written as

$$K(x, y, \beta, \widehat{H}) = \langle y | e^{-\beta \widehat{H}} | x \rangle.$$
(2.25)

satisfying the boundary condition

$$K(x, y, 0, \widehat{H}) = \delta(x - y).$$
(2.26)

This is a formal solution because as the differential operator becomes more complicated is not always possible to find an exact solution, and one as to turn to perturbative methods. It is possible to show that on manifolds without boundaries one can expand the heat kernel as

$$K(\beta, x, y, \widetilde{H}) = K(\beta, x, y, \widetilde{H}_0)(1 + \beta a_2(x, y) + \beta^2 a_4(x, y) + \dots)$$
(2.27)

where  $\widetilde{H}_0$  is the free hamiltonian operator. The coefficients  $a_{2n}(x, y)$  in the limit  $x \to y$  are regular, they are called heat kernel coefficient and are known for all the most common operator of quantum physics. For all the calculation involved in this thesis we will have the following situation

$$\lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}}{M^2}} = \lim_{M \to \infty} \int d^4x \int d^4y \,\Delta(x,y) \,\langle y| e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}(x)}{M^2}} |x\rangle \,\delta^4(x-y) \,. \tag{2.28}$$

where  $M^2$  plays the role of  $\beta$  so that the heat kernel for us will appear in the form

$$\langle x|e^{\frac{\mathcal{R}(x)}{M^2}}|x\rangle. \tag{2.29}$$

In the calculations below we will only need the coefficient  $a_4(x, x)$  at coinciding points, that we are going to denote by  $a_4(x)$ . For a second order elliptic differential operator in a curved space without additional structures (i.e. no gauge fields or scalar potentials) one can check that, by dimensional analysis, it is quadratic in the curvature so that it takes the form

$$a_4(x) = aR_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} + bR_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + cR^2 + d\Box R + e\sqrt{g}\epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}R^{\rho\sigma}{}_{\alpha\beta}$$
(2.30)

where the constants a, b, c, d and e depend on the specific operator. Of course, the term proportional to e may be present only for chiral operators (i.e. not invariant under parity). For the explicit calculation of the various coefficients for various differential operators we refer to [10].

As we shall see, for conformal fields, the coefficient  $a_4(x)$  will identify the trace anomaly. In general, this anomaly must satisfy certain integrability conditions that arise from the fact that the anomaly can be seen as arising from the variation of a functional, the effective action. These consistency conditions have been worked out in [20], and imply that only a certain combinations of the curvatures can appear in  $a_4$ . These combinations are the topological Euler density  $E_4$ 

$$E_4 = R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - 4R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + R^2$$
 (2.31)

the square of the Weyl tensor  $C^2$ 

$$C^{2} \equiv C_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}C^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} = R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} - 2R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{3}R^{2}$$
(2.32)

the topological Pontryagin density P

$$P = \sqrt{g} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} R^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta} R^{\rho\sigma}{}_{\alpha\beta} \tag{2.33}$$

and the term  $\Box R$ . This last term can be removed by a local counterterm, and thus is not considered as a true anomaly. Thus only three coefficients characterize the trace anomaly of conformal fields, so that up to the  $\Box R$  terms one expects for them an expression of the form

$$a_4(x) = \alpha E_4 + \beta C^2 + \gamma P. \tag{2.34}$$

However the topological Pontryagin density P has never been observed to arise in conformal field theories until the recent claims made in [2, 3].

#### 2.4 Scalar field trace anomaly

In this section we would like to calculate the trace anomaly for a scalar field using the methods introduced so far. We cast the model in euclidian space, so that after a Wick rotation we have the euclidean action

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \partial_\mu \phi \partial_\nu \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi^2 \right).$$
 (2.35)

We want to write the lagrangian in the form  $\mathcal{L} = \phi T \mathcal{O} \phi$  to apply the method we have just explained. After a partial integration we get

$$S = -\int d^4x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \phi \left(\Box + \frac{1}{6}R\right) \phi \,. \tag{2.36}$$

where  $\Box$  is the scalar laplacian

$$\Box = g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} = g^{\mu\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} \partial_{\mu} \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu}.$$
(2.37)

This covariant calculation can be check by standard algebra, without using the concept of covarinat derivativest

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \left( g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{6} R \phi^2 \right) =$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} \sqrt{g} R \phi^2 - \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} (\sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi) =$$

$$= -\frac{1}{4} \sqrt{g} g^{\alpha\beta} \partial_{\mu} g_{\alpha\beta} g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \partial_{\mu} g^{\mu\nu} \phi \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} \phi g^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi - \frac{1}{12} \sqrt{g} R \phi^2,$$
(2.38)

where we added a total derivative. Now remembering that the covariant derivative of the metric is zero

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{4}\sqrt{g}g^{\alpha\beta}(\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\alpha}g_{\rho\beta} + \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\beta}g_{\alpha\rho})g^{\mu\nu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}(\Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\mu\rho}g^{\rho\nu} + \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho}g^{\mu\rho})\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi + -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\phi g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{12}\sqrt{g}R\phi^{2} = =\frac{1}{2}\phi[-\sqrt{g}(g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} - \Gamma^{\nu\mu}{}_{\mu}\partial_{\nu} + \frac{1}{6}R)]\phi = =\frac{1}{2}\phi[-\sqrt{g}(\nabla^{\nu}\nabla_{\nu} + \frac{1}{6}R)]\phi,$$
(2.39)

in the last line we reintroduced the covariant derivative.

To calculate the anomaly at this point we introduce a lagrangian for a Pauli Villars

field  $\chi$  with a covariant mass term

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}\chi \left(\Box + \frac{1}{6}R\right)\chi + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g}M\chi^2, \qquad (2.40)$$

so that using the definitions previously described we recognize

$$T\mathcal{O} = -\sqrt{g}(\Box + \frac{1}{6}R) \tag{2.41}$$

$$T = \sqrt{g} \tag{2.42}$$

$$\mathcal{O} = -(\Box + \frac{1}{6}R) \tag{2.43}$$

$$T^{-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}.$$
 (2.44)

Now we have to recall

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \sigma(x)g_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.45}$$

$$\delta\phi = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)\phi \tag{2.46}$$

to calculate K and  $\delta T$ . We can immediately recognize

$$K = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma\tag{2.47}$$

and with some calculation we get

$$\delta T = \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \sigma g_{\mu\nu} = 2\sigma \sqrt{g}. \tag{2.48}$$

Now since  $\mathcal{O}$  is a second order differential operator we can stop here, and say that the anomaly is equal to

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{-\frac{\mathcal{O}}{M^2}} =$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \left[ (K + \frac{1}{2}T^{-1}\delta T)e^{-\frac{\mathcal{O}}{M^2}} \right] = \operatorname{Tr} \left[ (-\frac{1}{2}\sigma + \frac{1}{2}\frac{1}{\sqrt{g}}2\sigma\sqrt{g})e^{\frac{\Box + \frac{1}{6}R}{M^2}} \right] =$$

$$= \operatorname{Tr} \left( \frac{1}{2}\sigma e^{\frac{\Box + \frac{1}{6}R}{M^2}} \right).$$
(2.49)

To explicitly calculate the functional trace we use an heat kernel approach considering

the expansion

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{M^4}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \sigma(x) \sum \frac{a_{2n(x)}}{M^{2n}}$$
(2.50)

where we recognize the Seeley-DeWitt coefficients at coinciding points [11, 12]. The negative powers of M disappear as it goes to infinity, the positive one instead can be eliminated considering a set of Pauli Villars field with appropriate masses. The result we are interested in, as a consequence, has only one term left which after calculation gives rise to

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{5760\pi^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \sigma(x) (R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} - \Box R)$$
(2.51)

in agreements with the results found in the literature.

We want now to find the value of the trace of the energy-momentum tensor; to do so recalling equation (2.7) we can write

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{g}\sigma(x) T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = -\frac{M^4}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g}\sigma(x) \sum \frac{a_{2n(x)}}{M^{2n}}.$$
(2.52)

The energy-momentum tensor trace as a consequence is equal to

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = -\frac{a_4}{(4\pi)^2} = -\frac{1}{5760\pi^2} (R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + \Box R).$$
(2.53)

so that, up the  $\Box R$  term

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{11520\pi^2} (E_4 - 3C^2).$$
(2.54)

Obviously, the Pontryagin term cannot arise as the theory is not chiral.

#### 2.5 Vector field trace anomaly

Next step we will calculate the trace anomaly also for a massless vector field. The action has already been presented earlier in Minkowski space, but here we wish to proceed in euclidean space so that after a Wick rotation we have

$$S = \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{4} g^{\mu\alpha} g^{\nu\beta} F_{\mu\nu} F_{\alpha\beta} \,. \tag{2.55}$$

Now to compute the trace anomaly we have to quantize the system. However the model enjoys the standard gauge invariance,  $\delta A_{\mu}(x) = \partial_{\mu} \Lambda(x)$ , and one must introduce a gauge fixing procedure to proceed with the quantization. We choose as gauge condition the covariant Feynman gauge, which gives rise to Faddeev-Popov ghosts as well. As the model is coupled to gravity, the latter cannot be neglected. These modifications will alter the form of the energy momentum tensor (in particular there will appear also the contribution of the ghosts fields). However one may prove by using BRST methods that these modifications do not modify the result for gauge invariant observables, and in particular the expectation value of the energy-momentum tensor and its trace.

Thus, we add to the classical action the gauge fixing term

$$\mathcal{L}_{gf} = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{g} \left(\nabla^{\mu} A_{\mu}\right)^2 \tag{2.56}$$

and the corresponding Faddeev-Popov ghost term

$$\mathcal{L}_{FP} = \sqrt{g} \,\nabla^{\mu} b \,\partial_{\mu} c \tag{2.57}$$

where b and c are the scalar Faddeev-Popov ghosts of anticommuting character. To have a rigid scale invariance the ghosts must scale as the scalar fields of the previous section,

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \sigma g_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.58}$$

$$\delta b = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma b \tag{2.59}$$

$$\delta c = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma c \tag{2.60}$$

but the full Weyl invariance is broken in the gauge fixing sector.

Let us now rewrite the kinetic terms of the various fields to expose the kinetic differential operators and check that the gauge fixing procedure has produced invertible operators. For the gauge field  $A_{\mu}$  we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{A} = \mathcal{L} + \mathcal{L}_{gf} = \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{4} F^{\mu\nu} F_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} (\nabla^{\mu} A_{\mu})^{2} \right)$$
(2.61)

and up to total derivatives (that integrate to zero in the action) we manipulate it and

rewrite it as

$$\mathcal{L}_{A} = \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{4} (\nabla^{\mu} A^{\nu} - \nabla^{\nu} A^{\mu}) (\nabla_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \nabla_{\nu} A_{\mu}) + \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{\mu} A_{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} A_{\nu} \right) \\
= \sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{\mu} A^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{\nu} A^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} A_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \nabla^{\mu} A_{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} A_{\nu} \right) \\
= -\sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} A^{\nu} \nabla^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} A_{\nu} - \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} A_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} A_{\mu} \nabla^{\mu} \nabla^{\nu} A_{\nu} \right) \\
= -\sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \Box_{1} A_{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} A^{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} A^{\nu} \right) \\
= -\sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \Box_{1} A_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} [\nabla_{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}] A^{\nu} \right) \\
= -\sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \Box_{1} A_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\nu} {}_{\lambda} A^{\lambda} \right) \\
= -\sqrt{g} \left( \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} \Box_{1} A_{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} R_{\mu\nu} A^{\nu} \right) \\
= \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} A^{\mu} (-g_{\mu\nu} \Box_{1} - R_{\mu\nu}) A^{\nu}$$
(2.62)

where  $\Box_1 = \nabla^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu}$  is the covariant laplacian acting on vectors. It is obviously invertible (at least for small curvatures, as it approaches the flat laplacian).

Similarly, for the ghost fields a partial integration puts the action in the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{FP} = \sqrt{g} \, b(-\nabla^{\mu}\partial_{\mu})c = \sqrt{g} \, b(-\Box)c \tag{2.63}$$

where  $\Box = \nabla^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}$  is the covariant laplacian acting on scalars, which appeared already in the previous section. There are two ghosts, so they contribuite to the anomaly as two scalar fields, but notice that no improvement terms is present, so it will be different from the one already obtained.

Now to find the regulator we consider mass terms of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{A,M} = \frac{1}{2} M \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} A_{\mu} A_{\nu} \tag{2.64}$$

and

$$\mathcal{L}_{PV,M} = M\sqrt{g}bc \tag{2.65}$$

to be used for the corresponding PV fields.

Then in the  $A_{\mu}$  sector we can recognize the following quantities

$$T\mathcal{O} = -\sqrt{g}(g^{\mu\nu}\Box_1 + R^{\mu\nu}) \tag{2.66}$$

and

$$T = \sqrt{g}g^{\mu\nu} \tag{2.67}$$

Now we need to calculate  $T^{-1}$  and  $\delta T$  to identify  $\mathcal{O}$  and  $\Delta$  as in (2.19). We do not need additional terms since  $\mathcal{O}$  is a second order operator. We find

$$T^{-1} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{g}} g_{\mu\nu} \tag{2.68}$$

and recalling once again that

$$\delta g_{\mu\nu} = \sigma g_{\mu\nu}$$

$$\delta A_{\mu} = 0$$
(2.69)

we calculate

$$\delta T = 2\sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} - \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} = \sigma \sqrt{g} g^{\mu\nu} \tag{2.70}$$

$$K = 0 \tag{2.71}$$

so that

$$\Delta = \sigma \delta_{\mu}^{\nu}$$

$$\mathcal{O} = -\delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \Box_{1} - R_{\mu}^{\nu}.$$
(2.72)

Thus the contribution to the trace anomaly is

$$\mathcal{A}_A = \lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}(\sigma \delta_{\mu}{}^{\nu} e^{\frac{\delta_{\mu}{}^{\nu} \Box_1 + R_{\mu}{}^{\nu}}{M^2}}).$$
(2.73)

where only the  $M^0$  survives in the limit (after renomalization). It produces a Seeley-DeWitt coefficient that can be extracted from the literature [11, 12].

However, this will not give the final result, yet, as we have to add the ghosts contribution. As we have mentioned before, the b, c ghost sector produces the contribution of two scalar without the improvement term, with a global minus sing as it correspond to

anticommuting fields. Thus proceeding as before one finds at the end the contribution

$$\mathcal{A}_{bc} = -2 \lim_{M \to \infty} \operatorname{Tr}(\sigma e^{\frac{\Box}{M^2}}).$$
(2.74)

where only the  $M^0$  survives in the limit (after renomalization). The corresponding Seeley-DeWitt coefficient can again be extracted from the literature [11, 12].

Adding up the two contributions, one finds the complete trace anomaly for the spin 1 field that reads

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{5760\pi^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \sigma(x) (-13R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + 88R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} - 25R^2 - 18\Box R).$$
(2.75)

To evaluate the energy momentum tensor as we did before we use the equation

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{g}\sigma(x) T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = -\mathcal{A}, \qquad (2.76)$$

so that the result is

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{5760\pi^2} (13R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - 88R_{\mu\nu}R^{\mu\nu} + 25R^2 + 18\Box R).$$
(2.77)

Disregarding the term  $\Box R$  since it can be eliminated via a counter-term we rewrite the last expression using  $E_4$  and  $C^2$ 

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{11520\pi^2} (62E_4 - 36C^2).$$
(2.78)

Once again since this is not a chiral theory the Pontryagin term cannot arise.

### Chapter 3

### Trace anomaly for fermions

#### 3.1 Trace anomaly for a Dirac model

The lagrangian of a massless Dirac fermion  $\psi$  has been discussed in section 1.5 and can be written as

$$\mathcal{L} = -e\,\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi \tag{3.1}$$

where we recall that the covariant derivative reads

$$\nabla_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \omega_{\mu a b} \gamma^{a} \gamma^{b} \tag{3.2}$$

and that  $\gamma^{\mu}$  contains the inverse of the vielbein  $e_{\mu}{}^{a}$ , i.e.  $\gamma^{\mu} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}\gamma^{a}$ .

We want to evaluate the Weyl anomaly and to do so we are going to use the Fujikawa method with consistent regulator as described previously. Thus we need to add a mass term for the PV part and manipulate the lagrangian to put in the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\chi^T T \mathcal{O}\chi + \frac{1}{2}M\chi^T T\chi$$
(3.3)

where the operator  $T\mathcal{O}$  has to be the same for both the fermion and the PV part. So

we manipulate la lagrangian to cast it in the required form

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L} &= -e\,\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi = -\frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi - \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\psi - \frac{1}{8}e\overline{\psi}\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{c}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}e^{\mu}{}_{c}\psi \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}(e\overline{\psi}e^{\mu}{}_{a})\gamma^{a}\psi + \\ &- \frac{1}{8}e\overline{\psi}\omega_{\mu ab}(\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}\gamma^{c} + 2\eta^{ca}\gamma^{b} - 2\eta^{cb}\gamma^{a})e^{\mu}{}_{c}\psi = \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}e\partial_{\mu}\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}e^{\nu}{}_{a}\partial_{\mu}e^{\nu}{}_{a}\gamma^{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\partial_{\mu}e^{\mu}{}_{a}\gamma^{a}\psi + \\ &- \frac{1}{8}e\overline{\psi}\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b}\gamma^{\mu}\psi - \frac{1}{4}e\overline{\psi}(\omega_{\mu cb}\gamma^{b} - \omega_{\mu ac}\gamma^{a})e^{\mu c}\psi = \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi + \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}(\overleftarrow{\partial_{\mu}} - \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b})\gamma^{\mu}\psi + \\ &+ \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}e^{\nu}{}_{a}(\Gamma_{\mu\nu}{}^{\kappa}e_{\kappa}^{a} - \omega_{\mu}{}^{a}{}_{b}e_{\nu}{}^{b})\gamma^{\mu}\psi - \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}(\Gamma_{\kappa\mu}{}^{\mu}e^{\kappa}{}_{a} + \omega_{\mu a}{}^{b}e^{\mu}{}_{b})\gamma^{a}\psi \\ &- \frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{b}e^{\mu a}\psi = \\ &= -\frac{1}{2}e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\psi - \frac{1}{2}e\psi^{T}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}(\partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu ab}(\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b})^{T})\overline{\psi}^{T} = \\ &= \frac{1}{2}\psi_{c}{}^{T}(-eC^{T}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})\psi + \frac{1}{2}\psi^{T}(-e(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}C)\psi_{c} \end{aligned}$$

where we have found convenient to use the charge conjugated field

$$\psi_c = C^{-1} \overline{\psi}^T \tag{3.5}$$

and the operator

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{4} \omega_{\mu a b} (\gamma^a \gamma^b)^T.$$
(3.6)

In order to reach the final line we added the total derivative term  $\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}(e\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi)$  and then moved  $\gamma_{\mu}$  from the right to the left of the  $\omega$  term. Then we remembered the property we discussed in chapter 2, and in particular the fact that  $\omega_{\mu ab}$  is antisymmetric in its lower roman indices and that the covariant derivative of the vielbein is zero. Then in the final line we introduced  $\psi_c$ . Thus we may rewrite the lagrangian in the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \psi^T & \psi_c^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -e(\gamma^\mu)^T \widetilde{\nabla}_\mu C \\ -eC^T \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \psi \\ \psi_c \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.7)

Now we add the Dirac mass term which will be the one producing the anomaly

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_{M} = e \frac{M}{2} (\overline{\psi}\psi + \overline{\psi}\psi) = e \frac{M}{2} (-\psi^{T}CC^{-1}\overline{\psi}^{T} + \overline{\psi}(C^{-1})^{T}C^{T}\psi) =$$

$$= e \frac{M}{2} (-\psi^{T}C\psi_{c} + \psi_{c}^{T}C^{T}\psi) \qquad (3.8)$$

that written as a matrix reads

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_M = \frac{M}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \psi^T & \psi_c^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -eC \\ eC^T & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \psi \\ \psi_c \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.9)

Using eq. (3.7) as the expression for  $T\mathcal{O}$  we obtain

$$\mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} -\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} & 0\\ 0 & C^{-1} (\gamma^{\mu})^{T} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} C \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.10)

These expressions for the cases we have discussed can be rearranged by using

$$C^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}C = C^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}C\partial_{\mu} + -\frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu ab}C^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}CC^{-1}(\gamma^{b})^{T}CC^{-1}(\gamma^{a})^{T}C = -\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}.$$
(3.11)

Now we need to calculate K,  $\delta T$  and  $\delta O$  to do so we recall the Weyl rescaling transformations

$$\delta e_{\mu}{}^{a} = \frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)e_{\mu}{}^{a} \tag{3.12}$$

$$\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} = -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)e^{\mu}{}_{a} \tag{3.13}$$

$$\delta e = 2\sigma(x)e\tag{3.14}$$

$$\delta\omega_{\mu ab} = \frac{1}{2} (e_{\mu a} e^{\kappa}{}_{b} - e_{\mu b} e^{\kappa}{}_{a}) \partial_{\kappa} \sigma(x)$$
(3.15)

$$\delta\psi = -\frac{3}{4}\sigma(x)\psi \tag{3.16}$$

$$\delta\psi_c = -\frac{3}{4}\sigma(x)\psi_c \tag{3.17}$$

that in a straightforward way, when considering T, where the only varying part is e,

leads to

$$\delta T = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2e\sigma(x)C\\ 2e\sigma(x)C^T & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.18)

For the variation of  $\mathcal{O}$  we need to compute

$$\delta(\gamma^{\mu}\Delta_{\mu}) = \gamma^{a}\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a}\partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{c}\delta e^{\mu}{}_{c}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b} + \frac{1}{4}\delta\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{c}e^{\mu}{}_{c}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b} =$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} - \frac{1}{8}\sigma(x)\gamma^{\mu}\omega_{\mu ab}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b} +$$

$$+\frac{1}{8}(e_{\mu a}e^{\kappa}{}_{b} - e_{\mu b}e^{\kappa}a)\partial_{\kappa}\sigma(x)\gamma^{c}e^{\mu}{}_{c}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b} =$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} + \frac{1}{8}\eta_{ac}\gamma^{c}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{\kappa}\partial_{\kappa}\sigma(x) +$$

$$-\frac{1}{8}\eta_{cb}(-\gamma^{\kappa}\gamma^{c}\gamma^{b} + 2\eta^{\kappa c}\gamma^{b})\partial_{\kappa}\sigma(x)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2}\sigma(x)\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma(x)$$
(3.19)

in this last calculation we apply the above transformation law then used the relation  $\eta_{ab} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}e_{\mu b}$ , move  $\gamma^{\kappa}$  and then use  $\eta_{ab}\gamma^{a}\gamma^{b} = 4\mathbb{1}$ . In the end we obtain

$$\delta \mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2} \sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4} \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2} \sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4} \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma. \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.20)

Next we will like to calculate  $\mathcal{O}^2$  and the results is

$$\mathcal{O}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu \gamma^\nu \nabla_\nu & 0\\ 0 & \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu \gamma^\nu \nabla_\nu \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.21)

This is the regulator in both the Dirac and the Weyl case. Next we need K that we can simply read off from the relations (3.16) and (3.17)

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{3}{4}\sigma & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{3}{4}\sigma \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.22)

The last matrix that we need to evaluate is  $T^{-1}$  that can be easily show to be

$$T^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{(C^T)^{-1}}{e} \\ -\frac{C^{-1}}{e} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.23)

We recall now that we are trying to get to

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{\frac{\mathcal{O}^2}{M^2}} = \operatorname{Tr} \lim_{M \to \infty} (K + \frac{1}{2}T^{-1}\delta T + \frac{1}{2}\delta \mathcal{O}M^{-1})e^{\frac{\mathcal{O}^2}{M^2}}$$
(3.24)

and we have obtained

$$\Delta = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{3}{4}\sigma & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{3}{4}\sigma \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{(C^{T})^{-1}}{e}\\ -\frac{C^{-1}}{e} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -2e\sigma(x)C\\ 2e\sigma(x)C^{T} & 0 \end{pmatrix} + \\ + \frac{1}{2M} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{2}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{2}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma \end{pmatrix} = \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4}\sigma + \frac{1}{4M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{8M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma & 0\\ 0 & \frac{1}{4}\sigma + \frac{1}{4M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{8M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.25)

now since  $\mathcal{O}^2$  is in diagonal form we recall the propriety

$$e^{\begin{pmatrix} A & 0\\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}} = \begin{pmatrix} e^A & 0\\ 0 & e^B \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.26)

which leads to

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr} \begin{pmatrix} (\frac{1}{4}\sigma + \frac{1}{4M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{8M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma)e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}} & 0\\ 0 & (\frac{1}{4}\sigma + \frac{1}{4M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{8M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma)e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.27)

so that we get

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\left(\frac{1}{2}\sigma + \frac{1}{2M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma\right)e^{\frac{\left(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\right)^{2}}{M^{2}}}\right].$$
(3.28)

At this point if we use the series expansion of the exponential each member of the series has an even number of gamma matrices; this implies that both the second and the third term of the above result will generate a series with an odd number of gamma matrices for which the Dirac trace is always null. Thanks to this consideration we can rewrite  $\mathcal{A}$  as

$$\mathcal{A} = \text{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{2}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^2}{M^2}}\right]$$
(3.29)

which is the expression of trace anomaly for a Dirac fermion already considered by Fujikawa. Using the heat kernel results that can be extracted from the literature we get

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{5760\pi^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \sigma(x) (-\frac{7}{2} R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - 4R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + \frac{5}{2} R^2 + 6\Box R).$$
(3.30)

We can obtain the trace of the energy momentum tensor from

$$\int d^4x \sqrt{g} \frac{1}{2} \sigma(x) T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = \mathcal{A}$$
(3.31)

The sign differs from the one used so far since we are now dealing with a path integral defined for fermions and no longer for bosons, as a consequence the trace of the jacobian (2.6) has the opposite sign. The energy-momentum tensor trace as a consequence is equal to

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{5760\pi^2} \left(\frac{7}{2} R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + 4R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{5}{2} R^2 - 6\Box R\right).$$
(3.32)

Now as explained in the second chapter we would like to check the consistency condition by rewriting the tensor as a combination of  $E_4$ ,  $C^2$  and P. Since this is not a chiral theory we certainly cannot obtain a contribution from P and we find the well-known result

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{11520\pi^2} (11E_4 - 18C^2) . \qquad (3.33)$$

#### **3.2** Trace anomaly for a Weyl model

Finally, let us consider the case of our interest, a left handed Weyl spinor  $\lambda$  defined by

$$\gamma^5 \lambda = \lambda \tag{3.34}$$

with  $\gamma^5$  the chirality matrix (see appendix for our conventions). The lagrangian for such a chiral spinor cannot contain a Dirac mass term, as the Lorentz scalar  $\overline{\lambda}\lambda$  vanishes. Originally the neutrino was treated this way. Let us review in some details the model in flat space to build the stage for later analysis. The standard lagrangian for the massless Weyl fermion  $\lambda$  in flat space reads

$$\mathcal{L} = -\overline{\lambda}\gamma^a \partial_a \lambda \tag{3.35}$$

with the spinor  $\lambda$  containing just two complex (Grassmann valued) independent functions instead of four, because of the chiral constraint (3.34). It is invariant under U(1) phase transformation

$$\lambda \to \lambda' = e^{i\alpha}\lambda , \qquad \overline{\lambda} \to \overline{\lambda}' = e^{-i\alpha}\overline{\lambda}$$

$$(3.36)$$

that gives rise to a conserved fermion number. The related conserved current

$$j^a = i\overline{\lambda}\gamma^a\lambda \tag{3.37}$$

is called the chiral current, as the fermion is chiral. It is anomalous when the coupling to curved space is introduced. As anticipated, a Dirac mass term preserving the chiral U(1) symmetry cannot be introduced, as the  $\overline{\lambda}\lambda$  bilinear vanishes. However, one may add to (3.35) a Majorana mass term of the form

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_M = \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^T C \lambda + h.c.) \tag{3.38}$$

with M a real mass parameter, C the charge conjugation matrix, and "h.c." denoting the hermitian conjugate. This mass term is real, Lorentz invariant, and nonvanishing for Grassmann valued spinors (C is antisymmetric). However it violates the U(1) symmetry (3.36). The latter symmetry is sometimes needed in applications, so that a Majorana mass term is excluded in those cases (e.g. for the left handed neutrino, which has an hypercharge that couples to a gauge field). In other situations the Majorana mass is not excluded by symmetries (e.g. for the right handed neutrino, which has vanishing hypercharge) and it might be present. The possibility of using a Majorana mass will be useful for constructing a Pauli-Villars ultraviolet regulator for the massless chiral fermion. Let us explicitate the Majorana mass term as

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_{M} = \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^{T} C \lambda + h.c.) = \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^{T} C \lambda + \lambda^{\dagger} C^{\dagger} \lambda^{*})$$
$$= \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^{T} C \lambda + \overline{\lambda} \beta^{-1} C^{\dagger} (\beta^{-1})^{T} \overline{\lambda}^{T}) = \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^{T} C \lambda - \overline{\lambda} C^{-1} \overline{\lambda}^{T}). \quad (3.39)$$

This last form is useful for considering  $\lambda$  and  $\overline{\lambda}$  as independent fields when varying the action to find the field equations, as well as for performing the path integral quantization. To obtain it we have used that  $\beta$  is symmetric and anticommuting with C, and that  $C^{\dagger} = C^{-1}$ , properties which are certainly true in the explicit chiral representation reported in the appendix (the final result is probably representation independent, though we have not tried to prove it in detail). The equation of motion from  $\mathcal{L} + \Delta \mathcal{L}_M$  are easily found to be given by the coupled equations

$$\gamma^a \partial_a \lambda + M C^{-1} \overline{\lambda}^T = 0$$
  
$$\partial_a \overline{\lambda} \gamma^a + M \lambda^T C = 0. \qquad (3.40)$$

One can transpose the second one and rewrite it by using the properties of the charge conjugation matrix as

$$\gamma^a \partial_a (C^{-1} \overline{\lambda}^T) + M \lambda = 0 . \qquad (3.41)$$

In this form it may be inserted into the first equation, after applying to it the  $\gamma^a \partial_a$  operator, to recognize the mass shell condition (Klein-Gordon equation)

$$(-\partial^a \partial_a + M^2)\lambda = 0. aga{3.42}$$

This shows that the parameter M is indeed a mass for the chiral spinor  $\lambda$ . The breaking of the chiral U(1) fermion number symmetry is evident from the massive equations (3.40), that mix  $\lambda$  with its complex conjugate field contained in  $\overline{\lambda}$ . A phase transformation does not leave those equations invariant. Let us describe the basic dynamical variables as a column vector

$$\chi = \left(\begin{array}{c} \lambda\\ \overline{\lambda}^T \end{array}\right) \tag{3.43}$$

so that the massive lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -\overline{\lambda}\partial \!\!\!/ \lambda + \frac{M}{2}(\lambda^T C \lambda - \overline{\lambda} C^{-1} \overline{\lambda}^T)$$
(3.44)

with  $\partial = \gamma^a \partial_a$  can be written in the general form (after an integration by part)

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\chi^T T \mathcal{O}\chi + \frac{1}{2}M\chi^T T\chi \qquad (3.45)$$

with

$$T\mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\partial^T \\ -\partial & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad T = \begin{pmatrix} C & 0 \\ 0 & -C^{-1} \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.46)

with  $\partial T = \gamma^{aT} \partial_a$ , so that

$$\mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & C^{-1} \partial^T \\ C \partial & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{O}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \partial^2 & 0 \\ 0 & C \partial^2 C^{-1} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.47)

Once covariantized the operator  $\mathcal{O}^2$  will be used as regulator for our anomaly calculation. Using the charge conjugated field  $\lambda_c = C^{-1}\overline{\lambda}^T$  instead of  $\overline{\lambda}^T$ , things become perhaps more evident. The equations of motion can be written as

$$\partial \lambda + M\lambda_c = 0$$
  
$$\partial \lambda_c + M\lambda = 0 \tag{3.48}$$

and if one uses as independent variables

$$\tilde{\chi} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda \\ \lambda_c \end{pmatrix} \tag{3.49}$$

the lagrangian takes the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\lambda_c^T C \partial \lambda + \lambda^T C \partial \lambda_c) + \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^T C \lambda + \lambda_c^T C \lambda_c)$$
  
$$= \frac{1}{2} \tilde{\chi}^T \tilde{T} \tilde{\mathcal{O}} \tilde{\chi} + \frac{1}{2} M \tilde{\chi}^T \tilde{T} \tilde{\chi}$$
(3.50)

then

$$\tilde{T}\tilde{\mathcal{O}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & C\partial \\ C\partial & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{T} = \begin{pmatrix} C & 0 \\ 0 & C \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \tilde{\mathcal{O}} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \partial \\ \partial & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.51)

and the consistent regulator takes the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{O}}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \partial^2 & 0\\ 0 & \partial^2 \end{pmatrix} \,. \tag{3.52}$$

We also recall that  $\lambda_c$  has opposite chirality of  $\lambda$ , as from (3.34) one gets

$$\gamma_5 \lambda_c = -\lambda_c \ . \tag{3.53}$$

#### **3.3** Anomaly calculation for a Weyl fermion

The lagrangian of a massless Weyl fermion  $\lambda$  in flat space written in eq. (3.35) can be immediately covariantized and reads just as the Dirac lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = -e\,\overline{\lambda}\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\lambda\tag{3.54}$$

but now one must remember the chiral relation

$$\gamma^5 \lambda = \lambda \ . \tag{3.55}$$

In the same way as the Dirac case we have

$$\nabla_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} + \frac{1}{4} \omega_{\mu a b} \gamma^{a} \gamma^{b} \tag{3.56}$$

$$\gamma^{\mu} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}\gamma^{a} . \qquad (3.57)$$

We want to evaluate the Weyl anomaly, and to do so we are going to use the Fujikawa method with consistent regulator as explained in section 2 and used later on. To do so we need to add a mass term for the PV part and manipulate the lagrangian to obtain the form

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\chi^T T \mathcal{O}\chi + \frac{1}{2}M\chi^T T\chi \qquad (3.58)$$

where the operator  $T\mathcal{O}$  has to be the same for both the fermion and the PV part. As this operator is exactly the same as the Dirac case, reading from (3.4) to (3.7) we find again

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^T & \lambda_c^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -e(\gamma^{\mu})^T \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} C \\ -eC^T \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda \\ \lambda_c \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.59)

We could also use a different approach and treat  $\lambda$  as a Dirac fermion while adding to it the projector  $\frac{1+\gamma^5}{2}$ . With this approach the calculation stays almost the same but we obtain  $^1$ 

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^T & \lambda_c^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -e\left(\frac{1+\gamma^5}{2}\right)(\gamma^\mu)^T \widetilde{\nabla}_\mu C \\ -eC^T \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu \left(\frac{1+\gamma^5}{2}\right) & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda \\ \lambda_c \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.60)

Now we want to calculate the mass part using the mass term described before, we get

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_M = e \frac{M}{2} (\lambda^T C \lambda - \overline{\lambda} C^{-1} \overline{\lambda}^T)$$
(3.61)

which we can rewrite as

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_M = \frac{M}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^T & \lambda_c^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} eC & 0 \\ 0 & -eC^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda \\ \lambda_c \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.62)

where we have introduced  $\lambda_c$  as well. If we are thinking of using Dirac spinors and projecting them, we need to consider a mass term with projectors added to it

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_M = e \frac{M}{2} \left( \lambda^T C \left( \frac{1+\gamma^5}{2} \right) \lambda - \overline{\lambda} \left( \frac{1-\gamma^5}{2} \right) C^{-1} \overline{\lambda}^T \right)$$
(3.63)

which we rewrite as

$$\Delta \mathcal{L}_M = \frac{M}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^T & \lambda_c^T \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} eC\left(\frac{1+\gamma^5}{2}\right) & 0\\ 0 & -eC^T\left(\frac{1-\gamma^5}{2}\right) \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \lambda\\ \lambda_c \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.64)

Using (3.59) and (3.60) as expression for  $T\mathcal{O}$  for both the cases we obtain

$$\mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -C^{-1} (\gamma^{\mu})^T \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} C \\ \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.65)

This expression can be rearranged by using

$$C^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}C = C^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}C\partial_{\mu} + -\frac{1}{4}\omega_{\mu ab}C^{-1}(\gamma^{\mu})^{T}CC^{-1}(\gamma^{b})^{T}CC^{-1}(\gamma^{a})^{T}C = -\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}$$
(3.66)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We don't need a projector for the  $\overline{\lambda}$  part because the operator  $\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}$  always changes chirality and the projector are of course idempotent.

so we find

$$\mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \\ \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.67)

as one could have expected from the analogous expression in flat space (3.52).

Now we need to calculate K,  $\delta T$  and  $\delta O$ . The Weyl fermion transforms in the same way as the Dirac ones does, so we use the transformation from (3.12) to (3.17). From these transformations, when considering T where the only varying part is e, we obtain

$$\delta T = \begin{pmatrix} 2e\sigma(x)C & 0\\ 0 & -2e\sigma(x)C^T \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.68)

or in the other case simply

$$\delta T = \begin{pmatrix} 2e\sigma(x)C\left(\frac{1+\gamma^5}{2}\right) & 0\\ 0 & -2e\sigma(x)C^T\left(\frac{1-\gamma^5}{2}\right) \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.69)

For the variation of  $\mathcal{O}$  we remember the calculation (3.19) which is the same also for this case, so the results are

$$\delta \mathcal{O} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\frac{1}{2}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma \\ -\frac{1}{2}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.70)

This matrix anyway will not play any role in the calculation of the anomaly since does not have any diagonal term and we are going to be interested in the trace. Next we will like to calculate  $\mathcal{O}^2$  and the results is

$$\mathcal{O}^2 = \begin{pmatrix} \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu \gamma^\nu \nabla_\nu & 0\\ 0 & \gamma^\mu \nabla_\mu \gamma^\nu \nabla_\nu \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.71)

This is the regulator in both the Dirac and the Weyl case. Next we need K that we can simply read off from relations (3.16) and (3.17)

$$K = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{3}{4}\sigma & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{3}{4}\sigma \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.72)

the last matrix that we need to evaluate is  $T^{-1}$  that being in diagonal form can be easily show to be

$$T^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{C^{-1}}{e} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{(C^{T})^{-1}}{e} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (3.73)

We recall now that we are trying to get to

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr} \Delta e^{\frac{\mathcal{O}^2}{M^2}} = \operatorname{Tr} \lim_{M \to \infty} (K + \frac{1}{2}T^{-1}\delta T + \frac{1}{2}\delta \mathcal{O}M^{-1})e^{\frac{\mathcal{O}^2}{M^2}}$$
(3.74)

and we have obtained

$$\Delta = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{3}{4}\sigma & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{3}{4}\sigma \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{C^{-1}}{e} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{(C^{T})^{-1}}{e} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2e\sigma C & 0\\ 0 & -2e\sigma C^{T} \end{pmatrix} + \\ + \frac{1}{2M} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{1}{2}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma\\ -\frac{1}{2}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma & 0 \end{pmatrix} = \\ = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4}\sigma & \frac{1}{4M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{8M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma\\ -\frac{1}{4M}\sigma\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{8M}\gamma^{\mu}\partial_{\mu}\sigma & \frac{1}{4}\sigma \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.75)

Now since  $\mathcal{O}^2$  is in diagonal form, we recall the property

$$e^{\begin{pmatrix} A & 0\\ 0 & B \end{pmatrix}} = \begin{pmatrix} e^A & 0\\ 0 & e^B \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.76)

wich leads to

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4} \sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu})^2}{M^2}} & (\frac{1}{4M} \sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{8M} \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma) e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu})^2}{M^2}} \\ (-\frac{1}{4M} \sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{8M} \gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} \sigma) e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu})^2}{M^2}} & \frac{1}{4} \sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu})^2}{M^2}} \end{pmatrix}.$$
(3.77)

At this point we have three different way of addressing the Trace. If we consider this equation without any manipulation we could make the statement that the only difference from the Dirac case will emerge when we will take the trace of the gamma matrices; this trace will be half of the one in the Dirac space since the Weyl space has only two degree of freedom instead of the four of the Dirac one. So we expect the result to be that the anomaly for the Weyl case should be half of the Dirac one. The second possible approach is not to consider the trace over the Weyl space but to consider it over the Dirac one. To do so we add the chiral projector keeping in mind that the upper diagonal term emerges from  $\lambda$  while the bottom diagonal term emerges from  $\lambda_c$ . This implies that we must use different projector for each term. Furthermore we notice that the operator  $(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^2$  does not change chirality so we can write

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{4}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}}\left(\frac{1+\gamma^{5}}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}}\left(\frac{1-\gamma^{5}}{2}\right)\right] = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{4}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}}\right)$$
(3.78)

which is, as in the Majorana case, half of the Weyl anomaly for the Dirac case. The last approach involves considering the projector from the lagrangian and carry out the whole calculation from there as we have done in parallel so far. We stopped at the calculation of  $T^{-1}$ , the reason being that the matrix that we can read in (3.64) is not invertible. In these circumstances the right thing to do is to restrict the trace to the space in which T is invertible. This T acts upon vectors with sixteen components, the vectors that guarantee the existence of  $T^{-1}$  are

$$\begin{pmatrix} P_L X \\ P_R Y \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \left(\frac{1+\gamma^5}{2}\right) X \\ \left(\frac{1-\gamma^5}{2}\right) Y \end{pmatrix}$$
(3.79)

where X and Y are spinors with four components. Now if we move the projectors from the vector to matrix remembering their idempotency we obtain

$$\Delta = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{3}{4}\sigma P_L & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{3}{4}\sigma P_R \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{C^{-1}}{e} & 0\\ 0 & -\frac{(C^T)^{-1}}{e} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2e\sigma CP_L & 0\\ 0 & -2e\sigma C^T P_R \end{pmatrix} + \\ + \frac{1}{2M} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & P_L \frac{1}{2}\sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}\sigma P_R \\ -P_R \frac{1}{2}\sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}\sigma P_L & 0 \end{pmatrix} =$$
(3.80)
$$= \begin{pmatrix} \frac{1}{4}\sigma P_L & P_L \frac{1}{2}\sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} - \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}\sigma P_R \\ -P_R \frac{1}{2}\sigma \gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} + \frac{3}{4}\gamma^{\mu} \partial_{\mu}\sigma P_L & \frac{1}{4}\sigma P_R \end{pmatrix}.$$

In this final formula we used  $P_L$  and  $P_R$  to have a less heavy notation. At this point since the regulator is the same as the case we encountered before we see that the anomaly reads

$$\mathcal{A} = \operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{4}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}}\left(\frac{1+\gamma^{5}}{2}\right) + \frac{1}{4}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}}\left(\frac{1-\gamma^{5}}{2}\right)\right] = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{4}\sigma e^{\frac{(\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu})^{2}}{M^{2}}}\right)$$
(3.81)

which is the same result that we have obtained before. The explicit expression is of course

$$\mathcal{A} = \frac{1}{11520\pi^2} \int d^4x \sqrt{g} \sigma(x) \left(-\frac{7}{2} R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} - 4R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} + \frac{5}{2} R^2 + 6\Box R\right).$$
(3.82)

And as a consequence the energy momentum tensor is

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu} = -\frac{1}{11520\pi^2} \left( \frac{7}{2} R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} R^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} + 4R_{\mu\nu} R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{5}{2} R^2 - 6\Box R \right)$$
(3.83)

$$T^{\mu}{}_{\mu}(x) = \frac{1}{11520\pi^2} \left(\frac{11}{2}E_4 - 9C^2\right).$$
(3.84)

### Conclusions

Is now time to sum up the results and achievements of this thesis. In the first chapter we have given an introduction to Weyl and conformal transformations and we have shown explicitly how they relate to one another. We have also presented explicit calculations to show the invariance of the most common models. In the second and third chapters we have given an introduction to the Fujikawa method for the calculation on quantum anomalies and we have explicated its connection to the Pauli Villars regularization method; again we have presented an explicit end extended calculation of the trace anomaly for the scalar model, the vector model and for the Dirac one. Lastly we have applied the same method to the trace anomaly of a Weyl fermion, a result which is not as much well established. We have found that the trace anomaly for a Weyl fermion is half the anomaly of a Dirac fermion.

# Appendix A

### Conventions

#### A.1 Gamma matrices

The Dirac matrices with flat indices  $\gamma^a$  satisfy the Clifford algebra

$$\{\gamma^a, \gamma^b\} = 2\eta^{ab} \tag{A.1}$$

where the Minkowski metric  $\eta_{ab}$  is mostly plus. Thus  $\gamma^0$  is anti-hermitian and the  $\gamma^i$ 's are hermitian (we split the index *a* into time and space components as a = (0, i)). These hermiticity properties are expressed compactly by the relation

$$\gamma^{a\dagger} = -\beta\gamma^a\beta \tag{A.2}$$

where  $\beta = i\gamma^0$ . The latter is used in the definition of the Dirac conjugate  $\overline{\psi}$  of the spinor  $\psi$ , defined by

$$\overline{\psi} = \psi^{\dagger} \beta \tag{A.3}$$

so that the product  $\overline{\psi}\psi$  is a Lorentz scalar. The chirality matrix

 $\gamma^5$  is defined by

$$\gamma^5 = -i\gamma^0\gamma^1\gamma^2\gamma^3 \tag{A.4}$$

and satisfies

$$\{\gamma^5, \gamma^a\} = 0$$
,  $(\gamma^5)^2 = 1$ ,  $\gamma^{5\dagger} = \gamma^5$ . (A.5)

It allows to introduce the left and right chiral projectors

$$P_L = \frac{1+\gamma_5}{2} , \qquad P_R = \frac{1-\gamma_5}{2}$$
 (A.6)

that split a Dirac spinor  $\psi$  into its left- and right-handed components (Weyl spinors)

$$\psi = \lambda + \rho , \qquad \begin{cases} \lambda = \frac{1 + \gamma_5}{2} \psi \\ \rho = \frac{1 - \gamma_5}{2} \psi \end{cases} . \tag{A.7}$$

The latter transform irreducibly under the transformations of the Lorentz group connected to the identity (the proper, orthochronous Lorentz group):  $\lambda$  is a left-handed Weyl spinor and  $\rho$  is a right-handed Weyl spinor.

#### A.2 Chiral representation of the gamma matrices

A useful representation of the gamma matrices is the chiral one, defined in terms of two by two blocks by

$$\gamma^{0} = -i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{1} \\ \mathbb{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \gamma^{i} = -i \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \sigma^{i} \\ -\sigma^{i} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.8)

so that

$$\gamma^{5} = \begin{pmatrix} \mathbb{1} & 0\\ 0 & -\mathbb{1} \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \beta = i\gamma^{0} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathbb{1}\\ \mathbb{1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(A.9)

It is a convenient representation as the Lorentz generators  $M^{ab}$  in the spinorial representation<sup>1</sup> as well as the chirality matrix  $\gamma^5$  take a block diagonal form. Indeed, the spinorial representation of the Lorentz generators  $M^{ab} = \frac{1}{4}[\gamma^a, \gamma^b] = \frac{1}{2}\gamma^{ab}$  become

$$M^{0i} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^i & 0\\ 0 & -\sigma^i \end{pmatrix}, \qquad M^{ij} = \frac{i}{2} \epsilon^{ijk} \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^k & 0\\ 0 & \sigma^k \end{pmatrix}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The related Lie algebra has the form  $[M^{ab}, M^{cd}] = \eta^{bc} M^{ad} \pm 3$  terms.

In this representation the Dirac field and its chiral parts take the form

$$\psi = \begin{pmatrix} l \\ r \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda = \begin{pmatrix} l \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \rho = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ r \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.10)

where l and r are two dimensional spinors (Weyl spinors).

The charge conjugation matrix C can be defined by

$$C = \gamma^2 \beta = -i \begin{pmatrix} \sigma^2 & 0\\ 0 & -\sigma^2 \end{pmatrix}$$
(A.11)

and has the property of relating the gamma matrices to their transposed ones

$$C\gamma^a C^{-1} = -\gamma^{aT} . (A.12)$$

It is used to define the charge-conjugated field

$$\psi_c = C^{-1} \overline{\psi}^T \tag{A.13}$$

in which particles and antiparticles are interchanged. Indeed, one may check that if a Dirac spinor  $\psi$  satisfies the standard Dirac equation coupled to a U(1) gauge field

$$[\gamma^a(\partial_a - ieA_a) + m]\psi = 0 \tag{A.14}$$

then  $\psi_c$  satisfies

$$[\gamma^a(\partial_a + ieA_a) + m]\psi_c = 0.$$
(A.15)

It is easy to check that in the chiral representation the charge conjugation matrix satisfies

$$C = -C^{T} = -C^{-1} = -C^{\dagger} = C^{*} .$$
 (A.16)

Note that if the  $\psi$  is chiral, say  $\gamma^5 \psi = \psi$ , then its charge conjugated field  $\psi_c$  has the opposite chirality  $\gamma^5 \psi_c = -\psi_c$ . A Majorana spinor can be defined as a spinor that is equal to its charged conjugated one

$$\psi = \psi_c \tag{A.17}$$

so that particles and antiparticles coincide. This constraint is incompatible with the chiral constraints, so that Majorana-Weyl fermions do not exist in 4 dimensions. We recall that for a Weyl spinor  $\lambda$  the scalar  $\overline{\lambda}\lambda$  vanishes, so a Dirac mass term is not allowed. On the other hand the term

$$\lambda^T C \lambda \tag{A.18}$$

is a Lorentz scalar, and since C is antisymmetric it is non-vanishing if the spinor is taken to be Grassman valued (anticommuting). Thus in flat spacetime a mass term of the form

$$M\lambda^T C\lambda + h.c. \tag{A.19}$$

with M real (*h.c.* indicates the hermitian conjugate) is allowed: it is real, Lorentz invariant and non-vanishing. This is the so-called Majorana mass term. It violates the fermion number symmetry generated by the group U(1) of phase transformations.

#### A.3 Metric and connections

We use a mostly plus metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  and the Levi-Civita connection  $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$  (Christoffel symbols) that makes the metric covariantly constant

$$\nabla_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu} = \partial_{\rho}g_{\mu\nu} - \Gamma_{\rho\mu}{}^{\sigma}g_{\sigma\nu} - \Gamma_{\rho\nu}{}^{\sigma}g_{\mu\sigma} = 0 \tag{A.20}$$

and it follows that

$$\Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\rho\sigma}(\partial_{\mu}g_{\nu\sigma} + \partial_{\nu}g_{\mu\sigma} - \partial_{\sigma}g_{\mu\nu}) . \qquad (A.21)$$

On vectors with upper indices the covariant derivative acts as

$$\nabla_{\mu}V^{\rho} = \partial_{\mu}V^{\rho} + \Gamma^{\rho}{}_{\mu\nu}V^{\nu} . \qquad (A.22)$$

We use the following conventions for the curvature tensors

$$[\nabla_{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}]V^{\sigma} = R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\rho}V^{\rho} , \quad R_{\mu\nu} = R_{\mu\rho}{}^{\rho}{}_{\nu} , \quad R = R^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$$
(A.23)

so that the scalar curvature of a sphere is negative. The Riemann tensor  $R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\rho}$  is manifestly antisymmetric in its first two indices. It also satisfies

$$R_{\mu\nu\sigma\rho} = -R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \tag{A.24}$$

as a consequence of using the Levi-Civita connection (it follows from  $[\nabla_{\mu}, \nabla_{\nu}] g_{\sigma\rho} = 0$ ).

We would also like to explicit here the variation of  $\delta R$  with respect to  $\delta g^{\mu\nu}$ 

$$\delta R = R_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} - \Box\delta(\ln g) = R_{\mu\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\delta g^{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu}\Box\delta g^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (A.25)

### Bibliography

- M. J. Duff, "Twenty years of the Weyl anomaly," Class. Quant. Grav. 11 (1994) 1387 doi:10.1088/0264-9381/11/6/004 [hep-th/9308075].
- [2] L. Bonora, S. Giaccari and B. Lima de Souza, "Trace anomalies in chiral theories revisited," JHEP 1407, 117 (2014) doi:10.1007/JHEP07(2014)117 [arXiv:1403.2606 [hep-th]].
- [3] L. Bonora, A. D. Pereira and B. Lima de Souza, "Regularization of energymomentum tensor correlators and parity-odd terms," JHEP 1506 (2015) 024 doi:10.1007/JHEP06(2015)024 [arXiv:1503.03326 [hep-th]].
- [4] J. Wess and B. Zumino, "Consequences of anomalous Ward identities," Phys. Lett. B 37 (1971) 95. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(71)90582-X
- K. Fujikawa, "Path integral measure for gauge invariant fermion theories," Phys. Rev. Lett. 42 (1979) 1195. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.42.1195
- [6] K. Fujikawa, "Comment on chiral and conformal anomalies," Phys. Rev. Lett. 44 (1980) 1733. doi:10.1103/PhysRevLett.44.1733
- [7] A. Diaz, W. Troost, P. van Nieuwenhuizen and A. Van Proeyen, "Understanding Fujikawa regulators from Pauli-Villars regularization of ghost loops," Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 4 (1989) 3959. doi:10.1142/S0217751X8900162X
- [8] M. Hatsuda, P. van Nieuwenhuizen, W. Troost and A. Van Proeyen, "The regularized phase space path integral measure for a scalar field coupled to gravity," Nucl. Phys. B 335 (1990) 166. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(90)90176-E

- [9] W. Pauli and F. Villars, "On the invariant regularization in relativistic quantum theory," Rev. Mod. Phys. 21 (1949) 434. doi:10.1103/RevModPhys.21.434
- [10] S. M. Christensen and M. J. Duff "New gravitational index theorems and supertheorems", Nucl. Phis. B154 (1979) 301.
- [11] B. S. DeWitt, "Dynamical theory of groups and fields," Conf. Proc. C 630701 (1964) 585 [Les Houches Lect. Notes 13 (1964) 585].
- [12] D. V. Vassilevich, "Heat kernel expansion: User's manual," Phys. Rept. 388 (2003)
   279 doi:10.1016/j.physrep.2003.09.002 [hep-th/0306138].
- [13] S. W. Hawking, "Zeta function regularization of path integrals in curved spacetime," Commun. Math. Phys. 55 (1977) 133. doi:10.1007/BF01626516
- [14] F. Bastianelli, "The path integral for a particle in curved spaces and Weyl anomalies," Nucl. Phys. B 376 (1992) 113 doi:10.1016/0550-3213(92)90070-R [hepth/9112035].
- [15] F. Bastianelli and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, "Trace anomalies from quantum mechanics," Nucl. Phys. B 389 (1993) 53 doi:10.1016/0550-3213(93)90285-W [hepth/9208059].
- [16] F. Bastianelli and O. Corradini, "6-D trace anomalies from quantum mechanical path integrals," Phys. Rev. D 63 (2001) 065005 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.63.065005 [hep-th/0010118].
- [17] F. Bastianelli and P. van Nieuwenhuizen, "Path integrals and anomalies in curved space,"
- [18] F. Bastianelli, S. Frolov and A. A. Tseytlin, "Conformal anomaly of (2,0) tensor multiplet in six-dimensions and AdS / CFT correspondence," JHEP 0002 (2000) 013 doi:10.1088/1126-6708/2000/02/013 [hep-th/0001041].
- [19] F. Bastianelli and N. D. Hari Dass, "Simplified method for trace anomaly calculations in  $d \leq 6$ ," Phys. Rev. D **64** (2001) 047701 doi:10.1103/PhysRevD.64.047701 [hep-th/0104234].

- [20] L. Bonora, P. Pasti and M. Bregola, "Weyl cocycles," Class. Quant. Grav. 3 (1986)
   635. doi:10.1088/0264-9381/3/4/018
- [21] F. Bastianelli, G. Cuoghi and L. Nocetti, "Consistency conditions and trace anomalies in six-dimensions," Class. Quant. Grav. 18 (2001) 793 doi:10.1088/0264-9381/18/5/303 [hep-th/0007222].
- [22] L. Alvarez-Gaume and E. Witten, "Gravitational anomalies," Nucl. Phys. B 234 (1984) 269. doi:10.1016/0550-3213(84)90066-X
- [23] F. Bastianelli, "On chiral bosonization," Phys. Lett. B 254 (1991) 427. doi:10.1016/0370-2693(91)91179-Y
- [24] N. J. Poplawski, "Spacetime and fields", (2009) [arXiv:0911.0334v1 [gr-qc]].
- [25] S. Rychkov, "EPFL Lectures on Conformal Field Theory in  $D \ge 3$  Dimension", (2016) [arXiv:1601.05000v1 [hep-th]].
- [26] R. Blumenhagen and E. Plauschinn, "Introduction to Conformal Field Theory: With Applications to String Theory", Lect. Notes Phys. 779 (Springer, Berlin Heidelberg 2009), DOI 10.1007/ 978-3-642-00450-6.
- [27] R. A. Bertlmann, "Anomalies in Quantum Field Theory", (Clarendon Press, Oxford, 1996).